IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

BRIAN EDWARD TURNER,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR PIERCE COUNTY

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

MAUREEN M. CYR Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The State did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr.

 Turner committed the crime of possession of a stolen motor vehicle.
- 2. The State did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr.

 Turner committed the crime of possession of motor vehicle theft tools.
- 3. The State did not prove Mr. Turner's criminal history for purposes of calculating the offender score.
 - 4. The trial court erred in calculating the offender score.
- 5. The trial court's finding that Mr. Turner had the ability to pay the ordered financial obligations is not supported by the record.

 Judgment and Sentence Finding of Fact 2.5.

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. To prove the crime of possession of a stolen motor vehicle, the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt (1) the accused possessed a stolen motor vehicle and (2) knew the vehicle was stolen. Did the State fail to prove Mr. Turner possessed the vehicle where he merely placed personal belongings in the vehicle? Did the State fail to prove he knew the vehicle was stolen where there was no evidence of Mr. Turner's guilty knowledge?

- 2. To prove the crime of possession of motor vehicle theft tools, the State must prove the accused possessed a motor vehicle theft tool under circumstances evincing an intent to use the tool in the commission of motor vehicle theft. Did the State fail to prove the elements of the crime where the State did not prove Mr. Turner possessed the screwdriver or intended to use it to steal a car?
- 3. The State bears the burden to prove an offender's criminal history for purposes of calculating the offender score. The State may not rely on bare allegations unsupported by evidence. Did the State fail to prove Mr. Turner's criminal history where it merely listed his alleged prior convictions and presented no evidence to prove the allegations?
- 4. The trial court did not inquire as to Mr. Turner's financial condition or his present or future ability to pay his legal financial obligations but entered a written finding that Mr. Turner had the present or future ability to pay them. Must the trial court's factual finding be stricken in the absence of any supporting evidence in the record?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 18, 2012, Rindel Caba called police and said his car was stolen. RP 17, 23. He had been visiting someone in Tacoma when he noticed his car was missing. RP 29. The car was taken sometime between 3 and 11 a.m. that day. RP 29-30. The car was a white, two-door 1991 Honda Civic. RP 20.

Almost a month later, on the afternoon of December 13,
Lakewood Police Lieutenant Chris Lawler was in a marked police car
driving northbound on Lincoln in Lakewood. RP 32, 36. He saw a car
approaching, going southbound through an intersection. RP 38, 57.
Lieutenant Lawler's attention was drawn to the car because it drove
through the intersection without stopping, which was unusual. RP 57.
The woman sitting in the passenger seat looked at him and appeared to
be surprised. RP 38. Lieutenant Lawler could not see who was sitting
in the driver's seat. RP 40.

Although there was nothing remarkable about the car,
Lieutenant Lawler ran the license plate number on the computer in his
police car. RP 38-39, 41. He learned the car had been reported stolen.
RP 40. It was Mr. Caba's stolen Honda. RP 25, 38-39.

When Lieutenant Lawler looked up again, the car was gone. RP 40. He turned down the street and headed in the direction the car had been going. RP 42. A few minutes later, he saw the car stopped in the parking lot of an apartment complex. RP 42. He pulled into the parking lot. RP 46. The Honda was still running and the same woman he had seen was still sitting in the passenger seat. RP 45-46. No one else was in the car. RP 52. Lieutenant Lawler could not recall if the driver side door was open or closed. RP 46.

Mr. Turner emerge from a breezeway that led to some of the apartment units and walk toward the car. RP 47, 52. Mr. Turner was carrying a backpack and some alcohol bottles; he reached through the driver's side door of the Honda and placed the items behind the driver seat. RP 46. Because the car was a hatchback and someone was already sitting in the front passenger seat, this was the only way he could place items in the back seat of the car. RP 46, 55. Mr. Turner had his head down and did not seem to notice the officer. RP 48. It appeared to the officer that Mr. Turner "was preparing to get into the driver seat almost like he was going to raise his leg to get in there." RP 47. Mr. Turner never got into the car, however.

Lieutenant Lawler got out of his car, drew his gun, and shouted at Mr. Turner to show his hands. RP 47. Another man was walking a short distance behind Mr. Turner. RP 49-50. When that man saw the officer pointing his gun in his direction, he turned around 180 degrees and walked back into the breezeway. RP 50, 56. That man was never contacted by police and Lieutenant Lawler did not know if he had anything to do with the car. RP 56, 59-60.

Backup arrived and the officers arrested Mr. Turner. RP 50.

Lieutenant Lawler looked inside the Honda and saw that it was still running and the steering column was severely damaged, exposing the mechanism underneath. RP 51. Lieutenant Lawler saw a flat-blade screwdriver lying on the passenger seat floor; he speculated that someone might have used the screwdriver to manipulate the mechanism under the steering wheel to start the car. RP 51. Police did not collect the screwdriver, or the backpack and bottles. RP 26, 29, 51.

The car was returned to Mr. Caba. RP 25. It had a dent on the hood; the steering column cover was broken off; the ignition assembly switch and the heater climate control switch were damaged; and there were scratches by the radio and on the steering column cover. RP 26-27. The car did not have this damage at the time it was taken from Mr.

Caba. RP 26. There were also a bag of men's clothing and a screwdriver inside, which did not belong to Mr. Caba. RP 26, 29.

Mr. Turner was charged with one count of unlawful possession of a stolen vehicle, RCW 9A.56.068 and RCW 9A.56.140; and one count of making or possessing motor vehicle theft tools, RCW 9A.56.063. CP 1-2.

After the State rested its case, the defense moved to dismiss the charges, arguing the State did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Turner possessed the car or the screwdriver or knew the car was stolen. RP 62. The court denied the motion. RP 65.

The jury found Mr. Turner guilty of both counts as charged. CP 23-24. After the verdict, counsel moved for judgment notwithstanding the verdict, arguing again that the State did not prove the elements of the crimes. RP 105. The court denied the motion. RP 106.

Further facts are set forth in the relevant argument sections below.

D. ARGUMENT

1. The State did not prove the elements of possession of a stolen motor vehicle or possession of motor vehicle theft tools

It is a fundamental principle of criminal procedure that an accused is presumed innocent of a criminal charge and the State has the burden of proving guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Copeland, 130 Wn.2d 244, 294, 922 P.2d 1304 (1996). Constitutional due process requires the State to prove every element of the charged offense beyond a reasonable doubt. Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 477, 120 S. Ct. 2348, 147 L. Ed. 2d 435 (2000); In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970); U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Const. art. I, § 3.

In reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence to uphold a criminal conviction, the question is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Vasquez, __ Wn.2d __, 2013 WL 3864265, at *2 (No. 87282-1, July 25, 2013); Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 319, 99 S. Ct. 2781, 61 L. Ed. 2d 560 (1979); State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 221, 616 P.2d 628 (1980). The reviewing court presumes the truth of the

State's evidence and all reasonable inferences that can be drawn from that evidence. <u>State v. Colquitt</u>, 133 Wn. App. 789, 796, 137 P.3d 892 (2006). But the existence of a fact cannot rest upon guess, speculation, or conjecture. <u>Id</u>.

a. <u>The State did not prove Mr. Turner</u> possessed the car or knew it was stolen.

To prove the crime of unlawful possession of a stolen motor vehicle, the State was required to prove that Mr. Turner (1) knowingly possessed a stolen motor vehicle; (2) acted with knowledge that the motor vehicle had been stolen; and (3) withheld or appropriated the motor vehicle to the use of someone other than the true owner or person entitled thereto. CP 12; RCW 9A.56.068; RCW 9A.56.140.

Possession may be actual or constructive. <u>State v. Lakotiy</u>, 151 Wn. App. 699, 714, 214 P.3d 181 (2009); CP 16. "Actual possession" means that the car was in the personal custody of the defendant. <u>Id</u>. "Constructive possession" means that the car was not in actual, physical possession, but the defendant had dominion and control over it. <u>Id</u>. "Dominion and control means that the object may be reduced to actual possession immediately." <u>Id</u>. (quoting <u>State v. Jones</u>, 146 Wn.2d 328, 333, 45 P.3d 1062 (2002)).

Dominion and control and hence constructive possession is determined by the totality of the circumstances. <u>State v. Summers</u>, 45 Wn. App. 761, 763-64, 728 P.2d 613 (1986). Exclusive control of the stolen property is not necessary to establish constructive possession, but mere proximity to the property or one's presence at the place where it is found, without proof of dominion and control over the property or the premises, is not sufficient proof of possession. <u>Id.</u> at 765; <u>State v. Enlow</u>, 143 Wn. App. 463, 469, 178 P.3d 366 (2008).

Here, the State proved only that Mr. Turner was in proximity to the stolen car, not that he had actual or constructive "possession" of it. Lieutenant Lawler never saw Mr. Turner driving the car and never saw Mr. Turner inside the car at all. RP 40.

Lieutenant Lawler saw Mr. Turner place some items into the backseat of the car, but this does not prove he had "possession" of the car. Mr. Turner was required to reach through the driver's door to place the items in the backseat because the car was a hatchback and someone was already sitting in the front passenger seat. RP 46, 55.

Mr. Turner's actions of placing the items in the backseat suggest he might have been preparing to ride as a passenger in the car. But merely riding as a passenger in a stolen car is not sufficient to show the person

has possession of it. <u>State v. Plank</u>, 46 Wn. App. 728, 733, 731 P.2d 1170 (1987).

Another gentleman was walking closely behind Mr. Turner as he approached the car. RP 49-50. When that man saw Lieutenant Lawler, he quickly turned around and walked back in the other direction. RP 50, 56. That man was just as likely the driver of the car as Mr. Turner.

In addition, the State did not prove Mr. Turner knew the car was stolen. There is no proof that Mr. Turner himself stole the car.

Lieutenant Lawler spotted the car almost one month after it was reported stolen. RP 32, 36. Although the steering column was damaged and the underlying mechanism was exposed, there is no evidence that Mr. Turner noticed the damage or knew anything about it.

In sum, the State did not prove the elements of possession of a stolen motor vehicle beyond a reasonable doubt.

b. The State did not prove Mr. Turner possessed the screwdriver or intended to use it to steal a car.

To prove the crime of possession of a motor vehicle theft tool, the State was required to prove that: (1) Mr. Turner made, mended, or caused to be made, used, or possessed a motor vehicle theft tool that was adapted, designed, or commonly used for the commission of motor vehicle related theft; and (2) that he did so under circumstances evincing an intent to use or employ the tool or allow the tool to be used or employed, or did so knowing the tool was intended to be used, in the commission of a motor vehicle theft. CP 17; RCW 9A.56.063. A "motor vehicle theft tool"

includes, but is not limited to the following: Slim jim, false master key, master purpose key, altered or shaved key, trial or jiggler key, slide hammer, lock puller, picklock, bit, nipper, or any other implement shown by facts and circumstances that is intended to be used in the commission of a motor vehicle related theft.

CP 18; RCW 9A.56.063(2).

In closing argument, the deputy prosecutor argued the "motor vehicle theft tool" was the screwdriver found on the passenger floor of the car. RP 83-84. According to the prosecutor, Mr. Turner possessed the tool because it was in the car and the car was in his possession. RP 83. The State's theory was that Mr. Turner used the screwdriver to start the car every time he drove it. RP 84.

For the reasons given above, the State did not prove Mr. Turner possessed the screwdriver found inside the car because it did not prove he possessed the car.

Even if the evidence is sufficient to show Mr. Turner possessed the screwdriver, it is not sufficient to show he possessed it with the intent to use the tool "in the commission of a motor vehicle theft." CP 17; RCW 9A.56.063. As noted, the theft of Mr. Caba's car occurred almost one month before Lieutenant Lawler encountered Mr. Turner in the parking lot of the apartment complex. RP 32, 36. There is no evidence that Mr. Turner stole the car or used the screwdriver with an intent to steal the car.

Also, the State presented no evidence to show that Mr. Turner possessed the screwdriver with the intent to steal any other car in the future. The State may not prove such intent through mere possession of the tool. See Vasquez, 2013 WL 3864265, at *3 ("For... crimes where possession and intent are elements of the crime, Washington courts do not permit inferences based on naked possession.").

Although intent is usually proved through circumstantial evidence, "intent may not be inferred from evidence that is patently equivocal."

Id. (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). Here, the evidence of intent to steal was not only equivocal, it was completely lacking.

The State presented absolutely no evidence that Mr. Turner possessed the screwdriver with an intent to use it to steal a car. RCW 9A.56.063.

In sum, the State did not prove the crime of possession of a motor vehicle theft tool because it did not prove Mr. Turner possessed the screwdriver and, even if the evidence is sufficient to prove possession, it is plainly not sufficient to show he possessed the screwdriver with the intent to steal a car.

2. The State did not prove Mr. Turner's criminal history for the purpose of calculating the offender score

In Washington, a sentencing court's calculation of a criminal defendant's standard sentence range is determined by the "seriousness" level of the present offense as well as the court's calculation of the "offender score." RCW 9.94A.530(1). The offender score is determined by the defendant's criminal history, which is a list of his prior convictions. See RCW 9.94A.030(11); RCW 9.94A.525.

Constitutional due process¹ requires the State to prove the existence of prior convictions by a preponderance of the evidence.

State v. Ford, 137 Wn.2d 472, 479-80, 973 P.2d 452 (1999); RCW 9.94A.530(2). The State bears the burden of proving not only the existence of prior convictions, but also any facts necessary to determine

¹ The Fourteenth Amendment provides: "[N]or shall any state deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law."

whether the prior convictions should be included in the offender score.

In re Pers. Restraint of Cadwallader, 155 Wn.2d 867, 876, 123 P.3d

456 (2005); Ford, 137 Wn.2d at 480.

Despite its general reluctance to address issues not preserved in the trial court, the Washington Supreme Court "allow[s] belated challenges to criminal history relied upon by a sentencing court." State v. Mendoza, 165 Wn.2d 913, 919-20, 920, 205 P.3d 113 (2009) (citing Ford, 137 Wn.2d at 477-78). The purpose is to preserve the sentencing laws and to bring sentences in conformity and compliance with existing sentencing statutes and avoid permitting widely varying sentences to stand for no reason other than the failure of counsel to register a proper objection in the trial court. Mendoza, 165 Wn.2d at 920.

The Supreme Court has consistently held the Sentencing Reform Act (SRA) must be interpreted in accordance with principles of due process. State v. Hunley, 175 Wn.2d 901, 913-15, 287 P.3d 584 (2012); Mendoza, 165 Wn.2d at 920; Ford, 137 Wn.2d at 482. For a sentence to comport with due process, the facts relied upon by the trial court must have some evidentiary basis in the record. Mendoza, 165 Wn.2d at 926; Ford, 137 Wn.2d at 481-82. "It is the obligation of the State, not the defendant, to assure that the record before the sentencing

court supports the criminal history determination." Mendoza, 165 Wn.2d at 926 (citing Ford, 137 Wn.2d at 480). The SRA expressly places this burden on the State because it is "inconsistent with the principles underlying our system of justice to sentence a person on the basis of crimes that the State either could not or chose not to prove." Ford, 137 Wn.2d at 480 (citation omitted). Where the State fails to meet its burden of proof, the defendant may challenge the offender score for the first time on appeal. Mendoza, 165 Wn.2d at 929; Ford, 137 Wn.2d at 484-85.

That is not to say that a defendant cannot affirmatively acknowledge his criminal history and thereby obviate the need for the State to produce evidence. Mendoza, 165 Wn.2d at 920; RCW 9.94A.530(2). But the mere failure to object to the prosecutor's assertions of criminal history does not constitute such an acknowledgement. Mendoza, 165 Wn.2d at 928. Instead, the Supreme Court has "emphasized the need for an affirmative acknowledgment by the defendant of facts and information introduced for the purposes of sentencing." Id. (emphasis in Mendoza).

In <u>Hunley</u>, at sentencing, the State presented a written statement of the prosecuting attorney, summarizing its understanding of Hunley's

criminal history. 175 Wn.2d at 905. It was an unsworn document listing Hunley's alleged prior convictions but was not accompanied by any documentation of the alleged offenses. <u>Id</u>. Hunley neither disputed nor affirmatively agreed with the prosecutor summary. <u>Id</u>. The trial court calculated the offender score based on the prosecutor summary and Hunley did not challenge the offender score or the sentence in the trial court. Id.

The Supreme Court reversed the sentence. <u>Id</u>. at 915-16. Hunley's alleged prior convictions were established solely on the prosecutor's summary assertion of the offenses. <u>Id</u>. Because the prosecutor did not present any evidence documenting the alleged convictions, and Hunley never affirmatively acknowledged the prosecutor's assertions regarding his criminal history, the resulting sentence violated constitutional due process. <u>Id</u>. at 913-15. Hunley was entitled to be resentenced following a hearing at which the State was required to prove the prior convictions unless affirmatively acknowledged by Hunley. Id. at 915-16.

This case is indistinguishable from <u>Hunley</u>. As in <u>Hunley</u>, to satisfy its burden to prove Mr. Turner's criminal history, the State presented only a summary list of his alleged prior convictions. CP 44-

46. The State presented no evidence documenting the alleged convictions, and Mr. Turner never affirmatively acknowledged the prosecutor's assertions regarding his criminal history. The prosecutor attempted to persuade Mr. Turner to "stipulate" to the prior offenses but Mr. Turner and his attorney flatly refused. RP 113; CP 46.

Therefore, Mr. Turner's sentence violated constitutional due process. Hunley, 175 Wn.2d at 913-15. Mr. Turner is entitled to be resentenced following a hearing at which the State is required to prove the prior convictions unless affirmatively acknowledged by Mr. Turner. Id. at 915-16.

3. The record does not support the court's finding that Mr. Turner had the ability to pay court costs

At sentencing, the State asked the court to impose \$1,500 in court costs, as recoupment for the cost of court-appointed counsel. RP 114. Defense counsel objected, stating that Mr. Turner was indigent. RP 114. Without inquiring into Mr. Turner's present or future ability to pay the costs, or his actual financial condition, the court imposed \$1,000 in costs for court-appointed counsel. RP 117. In total, the court imposed the following costs, which became part of Mr. Turner's judgment and sentence: \$1,000 fee for court-appointed counsel; \$200

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