NO. 44659-6

**COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II
STATE OF WASHINGTON**

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

BRIAN TURNER, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County
The Honorable Thomas Larkin

No. 12-1-04684-2

Response Brief

MARK LINDQUIST
Prosecuting Attorney

By
THOMAS C. ROBERTS
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
WSB # 17442

930 Tacoma Avenue South
Room 946
Tacoma, WA 98402
PH: (253) 798-7400

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

The State also presented sufficient evidence that Defendant intended to use the screwdriver to steal the car. Lieutenant Lawler testified that screwdrivers are commonly used to start stolen vehicles. RP 51.

Q: "[I]s there any significance of a flat blade screwdriver being on the floor when you find a steering column that's been damaged in the way you described?

A: Yeah. Based on my training and experience, and I've actually seen people do it, the flat blade screwdriver or some kind of a square tip try tool can be used to move the mechanism under the column to start the car.

RP 51.

The screwdriver was needed to start the car because Defendant did not have the keys, and it was clear that Defendant was about to drive the car because he was getting in the driver's seat. RP 52, 46-47. Therefore, it is a reasonable inference that Defendant intended to use the screwdriver to drive the car.

The State presented sufficient evidence for the jury to conclude that Defendant possessed the screwdriver for the purpose of stealing the vehicle. As such, this Court should affirm defendant's conviction.

2. THE STATE PRESENTED SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE OF DEFENDANT'S PRIOR CONVICTIONS WHERE THE COURT ACCEPTED, WITHOUT OBJECTION, A STIPULATION TO DEFENDANT'S PRIOR CONVICTIONS.

The State must prove a defendant's criminal history by a preponderance of the evidence. *State v. Ford*, 137 Wn.2d 472, 479-480, 973 P.2d 452 (1999). The trial court "may rely on no more information than is admitted by the plea agreement, or admitted, acknowledged, or proved in a trial or at the time of sentencing." RCW 9.94A.530(2).

To establish the existence of a [prior] conviction, a certified copy of the judgment and sentence is the best evidence. The State may introduce other comparable evidence only if it shows that the writing is unavailable for some reason other than the serious fault of the proponent. In that case, comparable documents of record or trial transcripts may

suffice. *State v. Rivers*, 130 Wn. App. 689, 698-699, 128 P.3d 608 (2005) (citing *State v. Lopez*, 147 Wn.2d 515, 519, 55 P.3d 609 (2002)). In other words, the State must present additional evidence to carry its burden of proving the convictions by a preponderance of the evidence, if a defendant disputes the existence of a prior conviction and the State offers evidence less reliable than a certified judgment and sentence or other comparable documents. *Rivers*, 130 Wn. App. at 701-702.

Here, defense counsel verbally stipulated to Defendant's criminal history. RP 112-113; *see also* CP 44-46. The Court accepted the stipulation for sentencing purposes despite the State's offer to submit certified copies of defendant's criminal history. RP 112-113. Prior to accepting the stipulation, the court engaged in a thorough colloquy with defense counsel to make sure there were no issues or objections. RP 112-113.

State: I would [point] out that the stipulation of prior offense that I've handed forward is not signed by the defendant or his attorney. Ms. Melby said that it's her desire not to sign it. I suggested that we set this over so I can bring the certified copies to the Court. However, I'll defer to the Court with how you want to proceed.

The Court: Okay. She has no problem, I assume, and I'm looking at the order for biological sample draw.

Defense Counsel: No. It's just a stipulation of criminal history, Your Honor. *We're waiving any right to appeal it if it's wrong.* We do it as part of a plea because that's a condition of the plea from the State. It's my practice,

and I assumed everyone else's we don't do it after trial.

The Court: Well, is there something wrong that you're aware of -
-

Defense Counsel: Not that I'm aware of.

The Court: -- on his prior record or the offender score?

Defense Counsel: No, not that I'm aware of, Your Honor.

The Court: Okay. And then I'm going to accept the stipulation. We don't actually have a stipulation, but I'm going to accept the prior record and offender score.

Defense Counsel: Thank you, Your Honor.

RP 112-113 (emphasis added)

- a. Defendant waived his right to challenge the issue on appeal.

Arguments not raised in the trial court are generally not considered on appeal. *State v. Riley*, 121 Wn.2d 22, 31, 846 P.2d 1365 (1993); RAP 2.5(a). Defendant raises the issue of his criminal history for the first time on appeal. Defense counsel clearly stated that Defendant's record was accurate. RP 112-113. This issue is not properly preserved for review. Defense counsel also explicitly waived the right to appeal and denied having any objections to the stipulation whatsoever. RP 112-113. As Defendant waived his right to review explicitly and by failing to object at sentencing, this Court should dismiss defendant's claim.

b. The State presented sufficient evidence of Defendant's criminal record.

The State's offered stipulation was sufficient for sentencing purposes. *See State v. Huff*, 119 Wn. App. 367, 372-373, 80 P.3d 633 (2003) (defendant's stipulation was sufficient to establish prior criminal history). As demonstrated by the sentencing court's acceptance of the stipulation of prior offenses, the stipulation was sufficient to prove Defendant's criminal record. RP 113. Defendant did not dispute the existence of his prior convictions, and defense counsel found the document to be an accurate reflection of Defendant's prior record and offender score. RP 112-113. Therefore, no additional evidence was necessary to prove Defendant's convictions where the court found the stipulation to be sufficient, and there was no dispute as to Defendant's criminal record. As such, the State met its burden of proving Defendant's criminal record, and no resentencing is required.

3. DEFENDANT'S CLAIMS SHOULD BE DISMISSED WHERE THE ISSUE IS NEITHER RIPE NOR PRESERVED FOR REVIEW.

a. The issue is not preserved for appeal.

Arguments not raised in the trial court are generally not considered on appeal. *State v. Riley*, 121 Wn.2d 22, 31, 846 P.2d 1365 (1993); RAP 2.5(a). For the first time on appeal, defendant raises the issue of his ability

to pay his LFOs. Defendant did not object to the imposition of LFOs at his sentencing hearing. RP 117. Because defendant did not object at any time to the imposition of LFOs or the court's finding that he had the ability to pay, the issue is not preserved for appellate review. As defendant did not properly preserve this issue for appellate review, this Court should refuse to review his claim. See *State v. Lundy* ___ Wn. App. ___, 308 P.3d 755 (2013); *State v. Blazina*, 174 Wn. App. 906, 301 P.3d 492 (2013).

b. The issue is not ripe for review.

Trial courts may require defendants to pay court costs and other assessments associated with bringing the case to trial. RCW 10.01.160. RCW 10.01.160(3) requires the trial court to consider a defendant's ability to pay:

The court shall not order a defendant to pay costs unless the defendant is or will be able to pay them. In determining the amount and method of payment of costs, the court shall take account of the financial resources of the defendant and the nature of the burden that payment of costs will impose.

Within the statute are constitutional safeguards that prevent the court from improperly imposing LFOs and allow the defendant to modify payment of costs. RCW 10.01.160(4):

A defendant who has been ordered to pay costs and who is not in contumacious default in the payment thereof may at any time petition the sentencing court for remission of the payment of costs or of any unpaid portion thereof. If it appears to the satisfaction of the court that payment of the amount due will impose manifest hardship on the defendant

or the defendant's immediate family, the court may remit all or part of the amount due in costs, or modify the method of payment under RCW 10.01.170.

The defendant remains under the court's jurisdiction after release for collection of restitution until the amounts are fully paid, and the time period extends even beyond the statutory maximum term for the sentence. RCW 9.94A.753(4).

The time to challenge the imposition of LFOs is when the State seeks to collect the costs. *See State v. Blank*, 131 Wn.2d 230, 930 P.2d 1213 (1997); *State v. Smits*, 152 Wn. App. 514, 216 P.3d 1097 (2009) (citing *State v. Baldwin*, 63 Wn. App. 303, 310-311, 818 P.2d 1116 (1991)). The time to examine a defendant's ability to pay costs is when the government seeks to collect the obligation because the determination of whether the defendant either has or will have the ability to pay is clearly somewhat speculative. *Baldwin*, at 311; *see also State v. Crook*, 146 Wn. App. 24, 27, 189 P.3d 811 (2008). A defendant's indigent status at the time of sentencing does not bar an award of costs. *Id.* Likewise, the proper time for findings "is the point of collection and when sanctions are sought for nonpayment." *Blank*, 131 Wn.2d 230, 241-242.

The defendant has the burden to show indigence. *See* RCW 10.01.020; *Lundy*, 308 Wn. App. at 759, n.5. Defendants who claim indigency must do more than plead poverty in general terms in seeking remission or modification of LFOs because compliance with the

conditions imposed under a Judgment and Sentence are essential. *State v. Woodward*, 116 Wn. App. 697, 703-704, 67 P.3d 530 (2003). While a court may not incarcerate an offender who truly cannot pay LFOs, the defendant must make a good faith effort to satisfy those obligations by seeking employment, borrowing money, or raising money in any other lawful manner. *Bearden v. Georgia*, 461 U.S. 660, 103 S. Ct. 2064, 76 L. Ed. 2d 221 (1976); *Woodward*, 116 Wn. App. at 704.

Here, the court took Defendant's present and likely future financial resources into account as demonstrated by the language in the judgment and sentence:

The court has considered the total amount owing, the defendant's past, present and future ability to pay future legal financial obligations, including the defendant's financial resources and the likelihood that that the defendant's status will change. The court finds that the defendant has the ability or likely future ability to pay the legal financial obligations imposed herein.

CP 29. This language satisfies the prerequisites for imposing discretionary financial obligations.

Furthermore, the State has not attempted to collect legal financial obligations from the defendant or established when he is expected to begin repayment of these obligations. Because the State has not sought enforcement of the costs, the determination as to whether the trial court erred is not ripe for adjudication. *See Lundy*, 308 P.3d at 761.

The time to challenge the costs is at the time the State seeks to collect them because while the defendant may or may not have assets at this time, Defendant's future ability to pay is speculative. In addition, Defendant can take advantage of the protections of the statute at the time the State seeks to collect the costs. Therefore, Defendant's challenge to the court costs is premature. The challenge to the order requiring payment of legal financial obligations is not ripe for review.

- c. The trial court did not err in imposing legal financial obligations.

Different components of defendant's financial obligations require separate analysis because some LFO's are mandatory and some are discretionary. *State v. Baldwin*, 63 Wn. App. 303, 309, 818 P.2d 1116 (1991); *State v. Curry*, 118 Wn.2d 911, 915–916, 829 P.2d 166 (1992). The sentencing court's determination of a defendant's resources and ability to pay legal financial obligations is reviewed under the clearly erroneous standard. *Baldwin*, 63 Wn. App. at 312. However, the decision to impose recoupment of attorney fees is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Baldwin*, 63 Wn. App. at 312. The court must balance the defendant's ability to pay costs against burden of his obligation before imposing attorney fees. *Id.*; see also *State v. Wimbs*, 68 Wn. App. 673, 847 P.2d 8 (1993), *rev'd on other grounds by, State v. McGee*, 122 Wn.2d 783, 864 P.2d 912 (1993).

Pursuant to RCW 10.01.160, the court may require defendants to pay court costs and other assessments associated with bringing the case to trial. The court does not always have discretion regarding LFOs. Under statute, it is mandatory for the court to impose the following LFOs whenever a defendant is convicted of a felony: criminal filing fee, crime victim assessment fee, and DNA database fee. RCW 7.68.035; RCW 43.43.754; RCW 9.94A.030; RCW 36.18.020(h). The court is also mandated to impose restitution whenever the defendant is convicted of an offense that results in injury to any person. RCW 9.94A.753(5).

As in *Lundy*, the defendant in the present case does not distinguish between mandatory and discretionary legal financial obligations. This is an important distinction because for mandatory legal financial obligations, the legislature has divested courts of the discretion to consider a defendant's ability to pay when imposing these obligations. *See* RCW 9.94A.505, RCW 9.94A.753(4) and (5); *Lundy*, at 759. For victim restitution, victim assessments, DNA fees, and criminal filing fees, the legislature has directed expressly that a defendant's ability to pay should not be taken into account. *See, e.g., State v. Kuster*, 175 Wn. App. 420, 306 P.3d 1022 (2013). Therefore, in the present case, the review ultimately concerns the discretionary amount of \$1000 in court appointed attorney fees and defense costs. CP 30.

The trial court's finding that a defendant has the ability to pay discretionary LFOs is reviewed under the "clearly erroneous" standard.

Lundy, 308 at 761. "A finding of fact is clearly erroneous when, although there is some evidence to support it, review of all the evidence leads to a "definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been committed." *Lundy*, 308 at 760; citing *Schryvers v. Coulee Cmty. Hosp.*, 138 Wn. App. 648, 654 P.3d 113 (2007)) (quoting *Wenatchee Sportsmen Ass'n v. Chelan County*, 141 Wn.2d 169, 176 4 P.3d 123 (2000)). The State's burden for establishing whether a defendant has the present or likely future ability to pay discretionary legal financial obligations is very low. *Lundy*, 308 at 760.

Here, Defendant argues that the trial court erred when it concluded that he had the present or future ability to pay mandatory and discretionary LFOs. Defendant relies on *Calvin* for the proposition that there must be evidence in the record to support the court's finding that a defendant has the ability to pay the costs imposed. *State v. Calvin*, ___ Wn. App. ___, 302 P.3d 509, 521 (2013). *See* Brief of Appellant at 20. In *Calvin*, the trial court's ruling was "clearly erroneous" when the trial court found that an unemployed carpenter could likely pay the LFO's in the future depends on facts and evidence. While the factual conclusion is open to debate, the Court relied upon *Baldwin* and *Curry* for the legal principles involved. *Calvin*, 302 P.3d at 521. More importantly, Court correctly noted that the trial court need not make a finding, but only take the defendant's financial resources "into account." *Id.*

The finding to which the court in *Calvin* refers, is the "boilerplate" language in the judgment and sentence. *See* CP 29. The "boilerplate" finding of ability to pay on the Judgment and Sentence is likely an effort to standardize compliance with RCW 10.01.160(3), and *State v. Curry*, 118 Wn.2d 911, 829 P.2d 166 (1992). As the Court of Appeals observed in *Calvin*, 302 P. 3d at 521, and *Lundy*, 308 P. 3d at 760, it is unnecessary under the statute. The court has gone even further to say that the boilerplate finding is superfluous and does not warrant relief even if it is not supported by the record. *Lundy*, 308 Wn. App. at 760, n.9; *See State v. Caldera*, 66 Wn. App. 548, 551, 832 P.2d 139 (1992). Relief is not warranted because where the court finds the imposition of costs to be "clearly erroneous," the appropriate remedy is only to strike the boilerplate finding from the judgment and sentence. *See State v. Bertrand*, 165 Wn. App. 393, 405, 267 P.3d 511 (2011). As only the finding, and not the order imposing LFOs is erroneous, the imposition of costs is not affected.

Here, the trial court made the superfluous finding that Defendant had the ability to pay the discretionary \$1000 imposed. CP 29. However, as the issue is not ripe for review, the Court need not determine whether or not the finding was erroneous. Should the Court choose to review the finding and determine that it was clearly erroneous, the proper remedy is only to strike the second sentence referring to the "boilerplate" finding from the judgment and sentence. The imposition of LFOs itself would be unaffected until the State seeks to enforce them.

As the language in the judgment and sentence sufficiently satisfied the requirements of RCW 10.01.160(3), and Defendant's challenge to the costs imposed is neither properly preserved nor ripe for review, this Court should affirm Defendant's conviction.

D. CONCLUSION.